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COMPLAINT

The Sceuritics and Exchange Commission (the "SEC" or "Commission”) alleges
as follows as to defendants Jeffrey P. Jorissen, Gary A. Shiffman, and Mary A. Petrella:

NATURE OF THIS ACTION

L. This action ariscs out of falsc financial record-keeping and reporling by a
publicly-traded company, Sun Commumities, Tnc. ("Sun"), from 2000 through 2002.
During this period Sun's financial statements failed to properly account for losscs
resulting from Sun's investment in SunChamp, LLC ("SunChamp"), a joint venture
involved in the development of manufactured housing communities. Sun violated
generally accepted accounting principles and the requirements of federal securities law
by failing to report any of SunChamp's losses during seven quarters, and by improperly
underreporting Sun's share of SunChamp's losses in four additional quartcrs. Sun also
maintained an improper general reserve ("cookic jar reserve") and improperly

"smoothed” earnings by matching expenses from certain quarters with eamings from
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other quarlers. San's falsc financial statements were incorporated in documents filed by
Sun with the SEC and made available to the investing public, including eleven quarterly
reports (Form 10-QQ), three annual reports (Form 10-K), and multiple non-periodic filings,
including registration statements and prospectuses.

2. Delendant Jeffrey P. Jorissen, Sun's chief financial officer, initiated and
dirccted Sun's false record-keeping and repotting. Defendant Gary A. Shiffman, Sun's
CEQ, causcd falsifications of Sun's records by providing falsc information regarding the
timing of transactions with outside investors. Defendant Mary A. Petrclla, Sim's
controller during the relevant period, falsificd Sun's records in releasing funds from Sun's
cookie jar rescrve and improperly matching expenses with carnings.

3. As a result of defendants” misconduct, Sun overstated its income by
approximatcly $3.6 million (9%) for 2000, $4.6 million (11%) for 2001, and $2.7 million
(13%) for 2002.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 ("Secunties Act") [15 11.8.C. §77v(a)] and Sections 21(e) and 27
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 T7.S.C. §§ 78u(e) and

78aa).

5. Dcfendants have, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or
instrumentalities of intersiate commercc and/or of the mails in connection with the

transactions described in this Complaint.
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6. Venue is proper in this district because many of the acts and transactions
constituting the violations occurred in this district and defendants reside and transact

business in (his district.

DEFENDANTS

7. Jeffrey P. Jorissen ("Jorisscn™) is Sun's Chief Financial Officer, Senior
Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer, He has held these positions since 1993,
Jorissen is employed at Sun’s headquartets in Southfield, Michigan, and resides in
Farmington Hills, Michigan. Jorissen is a certified public accountant.

8. Gary A. Shiffiman ("Shiffimnan") 1s Chaairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Qfficer, and President of Sun. Shiffman has been on the Board of
Directors of Sun since 1993 and Sun's CEO since 1994. He is cmployed at Sun’s
headquarters in Southfield, Michigan, and resides in West Bloomfield, Michigan.

9. Mary A. Petrella ("Petrelia") was Sun’s Controller from 1995 until
November 2002, She is currcntly cmployed in the Operations Depariment at Sun’s
headquarters 1n Southfield, Michigan, and resides in Rochester Hills, Michigan. Petrella

is a registered accountant in Michigan.

SUN AND RELEVANT SUBSIDIARIES

10. Sun, a Maryland corporalion, is a real estate investment trust (REIT)
hcadquartered in Southficld, Michigan. Through various subsidiaries, Sun owns,
operates, develops and finances manufactured housing communities located primarily in
the midwestern and southeastern United States. Sun has been a public company since

1993, Sun's common stock 1s registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b)
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of the Exchange Act [15 U.8.C. § 781(b)] and is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange,

L1. Sun Communities Operating Limited Partnership ("SCOLP"), a Michigan
limited partnership, is Sun's main operating subsidiary. Sun is the solc general partner of
SCOLP and holds a controlling interest i SCOLP.

12, Sun/Forest Holdings, LLC ("Sun/Forest Holdings"), a Michigan limited
liability company, is a subsidiary of SCOLP, which holds a controlling interest in
Sun/Forest Holdings.

13.  Sun/Forest, LLC ("Sun/Forest"), a Michigan limitcd liability company, is
a subsidiary of Sun/Forest Holdings, which holds a majority mnterest in Sun/Forest.

14. Sun's interest in the SunChamp joint venture 1s held throngh its primary
subsidiary SCOLP, and then through its secondary and tertiary subsidiaries Sun/Forest
Holdings and Sun/Forest. References herein to Sun's interests in SunChamp reflect Sun's
share of the interests of SCOLP, Sun/Forest Holdings, and Sun/Fotest.

15. At all times relevant to this case, Sun's financial statcments and reports
included the financial results for SCOLP, Sun/Forest Holdings, and Sun/Forest on a
consolidated basis.

THE SUNCHAMP JOINT VENTURE

16.  Champion Enterprises, Inc. ("Champion Enterprises™), a Michigan
corporalion, is a manufacturer of factory-built housing. Through vanous subsidiaries,
Champion Enterpnises has engaged in joint ventures involved in the development and

management of manufacturcd home communities. The term "Champion" as used hercin
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refers to Champion Enterpnises and the Champion Enterprises subsidiaries associated
with the SunChamp joint venture.

17.  SunChamp, a Michigan limited liability company, is a joint venture
formed in 1999 by Sun and Champion. SunChamp acquires land, improves it for use as
homesites, and leases the sites to individuals who have purchased mobile homes.
SunChamp incurred losses each year through at lcast 2002.

18 When SunChamp was formed in 1999, Sun held a 75% interest in
SunChamp, while Champion held a 25% interest.

SUN'S RECORD-KEEPING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS

19.  As apublic company with secunities registered with the Commission, Sun
is required to file quarterly and annual reports with the Comamission. These reports must
accurately and completely portray the results of Sun's operations and Sun's financial
condition. Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12h-20
13a-1 and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-13].

20.  Financial statements submitted by Suxn to the Commission rmust be
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").

17 C.F.R. § 210.4-01.

21, GAAP provisions specify how an investor must account for its share of the
profits or losses from a joint venture or similar investment. If the investor has the ability
to excreise significant influcnce over the investment, the investor must use the "equity
method” of accountimg.  Accounting Pninciples Board Opinion No. 18 (March
1971)("APB 18") at 1% 2¢ & 17. If the investor owns 20% or more of the investment, the

nvestor 15 presumed to have the ability to exercise significant influence over the
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investment. If an investor owns less than 20% but exerts significant influence over the
investment, the equity method is still required. APB 18 at 17. Under the cquity method,
as the investment gencrates earnings or losses, the investor's share of those earnings or
losses must be reflected in the inveslor's income statcment and the balance sheet adjusted
correspondingly. APB 18 at §17.

22, Where the investor does not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over the investment, GAAP provisions requirc that the "cost method" he used
to account for the investor's return.  Under the cost method, gains or losscs are not
recognized until the sale (or "other than temporary impairment”) of the investment. APB
18 at 9 6a.

23.  The cquity method is the preferred method for use in connection with
corporate joint ventures such as SunChamp. APB 181 16; Statement of Position 75-9
(December 1974) (“SOP 78-9) at §Y 4-5.

FAILURE TO PROPERLY REPORT THE SUNCHAMP
LOSSES ATTRIBUTABLE TO SUN

24. At Jorissen's direction, Sun failed to properly account for and report its
share of SunChamp's losses for each quarter from January 1, 2000, through September
30, 2002, and for end of year 2000, 2001, and 2002.

A. 1st and 2nd Quarter 2000; "90-Day Lag"

25.  Sun adopted the cquity method of accounting for SunChamp's losses
during the first quarter of 2000. However, at Jonissen's direction, Sun improperly
employed a "90-day lag” in recording the SunChamp results, holding the SunChamp
figures until the next quarter. Sun failed to report any of SunChamp's first quarter losses

in Sun's first quarter financial statements.
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26.  Sun's proportionate share of the SunChamp losses for the first quarter of
2000 was approximately $441,000 (belore adjustment for minority interests). Becausc
these losses were not included in Sun's financial reports for this quarter, Sun's net income
for the first quarter of 2000 was overstated by approximatety 4%. Sun's Form 10-Q for
the first quarter of 2000, filed with thc Commission in May 2000, incorporated Sun's
financial statements containing this overstatement.

27.  Sum's share of SunChamp’s losses for the second quarter was
approximately $824,000, Pursuant lo Jorissen's "90-day lag" policy, Sun's financial
statement for the second quarter falled to report this $824,000 loss. Instead, Sun reported
a portion of SunChamyp's first quarter losses (approximately $251,000 rather than the full
$441,000). As aresult, Sun misstated its share of SunChamp's losses for the second
quarter by approximately $573,000, resulting in overstatement of Sun's net income for
the quarter of approximately 5%. Sun's 10-QQ for the second quarter of 2004, filed in
August 2000, incorporated this overstatemeni.

28. At Jorissen's direction, Sun improperly switched from the equity method
to the cost method for the third quarter of 2000 and did not report any SunChamp losses
for the third quarter of 2000, The $824,000 SunChamp loss aitnibutable to Sun for the
seccond quarter of 2000 was never reported.

29, Under the equity method, an investor must account for its share of earmings
or losscs basced on the "latest available financial statement” regarding the investment.
APB 18 at 7 19. An investor may not delay accounting for its share of losses if the
necessary information is known or reasonably available. Sun's 90-day lag in rcporting

was unjustified and contrary to GAAP because the information required to report these
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losses on a timely basis was known or readily available. SunChamp’s financial
statements for these two quarters were available before Sun's quarterly reports were due
at the Commission and could readily have been accounted for in Sun's statemcnts. Sun'’s
joint venture partner, Champion, reported its share of SunChamp's losses for these
quarters on a timely basis.

30.  InMarch 2000, before the end of the first quarter of 2000, Jorissen and
Petrella were advised by Sun's outside auditor, accountant Gregory Welson, that "real
time reporting” was a "hot button with the SEC" in light of earnings management issues.

31 In regponse to this warning, Jorissen told Nelson, directly or through
Petrella, that Sun needed to adopt a 90-day lag because SunChamp was not providing the
necessary mformation in time to allow Sun to reﬂept that information in its quarterly
filings. This statement was materially false or misleading.

32, Jorissen knowingly or recklessly disrcgarded GAAP requirements in
directing that Sun implement the "50-day lag" pohicy.

B. 3rd Quarter 2000 Through End Of 2001: Failure To Use Equity Methed

33. At Jomissen's direclion, for the third quarter of 2000 Sun improperly
switched to the cost method in accounting for its share of SunChamp's losses and then
continued to use the cost method for six quarters, through the end of 2001. During this
period Sun's financial stalements did not reflect any of SunChamp's losses.

Sun's Influence Over SunChamp

34. Sun's usc of the cost method was contrary to GAAP because Sun
exercised significant influence over the SunChamp joint venture. Through its

subsidiaries, Sun held half of the seals on the equivalent of SunChamp’s board of
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directors and played a key role in sctting SunChamp policy. Under the SunChamp
Operating Agrecment, Sun was also the "Manager” of the joint venture, vested with "full
power and complete authority and discretion to manage and conirol the company and 1ts
business and to make all incidental decisions” (subject to restrictions relating 1o
dissolutions, mergers, and other corporate matters). Further, Sun approved SunChamp’s
operating and construction budgets and all new acquisitions. SunChamp was also
financially dependent on Sun, which was to provide 50% of SunChamp's operating
shortfalls and development overruns, and 75% of SunChamp's budgeted capital costs.

Misuse Of 20% Ownership Guideline

35, Despite Sun's significant influence over SunChamp, Jorisscn improperly
dirccted that beginning with the third quarter of 2000, Sun would use the cost method of
accounting, thus excluding SunChamp's losses from Sun's financial statements on an
ongoing basis. This decision was based on Jorissen's dctermination that as of July 1,
2000, Sun's interest in SunChamp fell below 20% because on that date Sun transferred
portions of its interest to outside investors. In making this determination, Jorissen
knowingly or recklessly disregarded the GAAP requirernent that due to Sun's significant
influence over SunChamp, Sun was required to use the equity method, and account for 1ts
share of SunChamp's losses, even 1f Sun's intercst in SunChamp had actually fallen below
20%.

Transactions With Outside Investors

36. In September 2000 Sun transferred an interest in SunChamp to T.J.
Holdings for $3.2 million. Tn Qctober 2000 Sun transferred an interest in SanChamp to

Jerome Schostak ("Schostak™) for $2 million in cash and 34 million in non-recourse



Case 2:06-cv-10845-JF-SDP  Document 1 Filed 02/27/2006 Page 10 of 26

promissory notes. In July 2001 Sun transferred interests in SunChamp to Steven
Friedman (" Friedman") and Michael Horowitz ("Horowitz") for a lotal of $2 million in
cash and $4 million in non-recourse notes.

37. Sun's transactions with T.J. Holdings, Schostak, Friedman, and Horowite
should not have been treated as reductions 1n Sun's ownership interest in SunChamp for
purposes of determining the amount of equity method loss. These transactions did not
transfer the risks and rewards of owncrship for accounting purposes, and therefore did not
qualify as "sales" of equity interests under APB 18, SOP 78-9, and FAS 66.

38.  For purposcs of GAAP accounting, the sale of an investment 1 a real
estate venture must be evaluated undcer FAS 66. SOP 78-9 at Y 39; Emerging Issues
Task Force No. 98-8 (May 21, 1998). Pursuant to FAS 66, profit or loss on a rcal cstate
sales transaction may not be rccognized for accounting purposes until: (i) a sale 15
consununated; (ii) the buyer’s initial and continuing investments demonstrate a
commitment to pay for the property; (iii) the seller’s receivable 1s not subject to future
subordination; and (iv) the seller has transferred the usual risks and rewards of ownership
and does not have a substantial continuing involvement with the property. FAS 66 at ¥ 5.

39.  GAAP provisions also require that joint venture losses otherwise
allocable to outside investors must be reported by the primary investor if it is probable
that the outside investors will not fund their share of any shortfalls incurred by the joint
venture. S0P 78-9. In Sun's case, the outside investors were unlikely to fund (and
ultimately did not fund) SunChamp's shortfalls.

40. Three of Sun's transactions with outside investors (the Schostak,

Friedman, and Horowitz transactions) did not satisfy the FAS 66 requirement that the

10



Case 2:06-cv-10845-JF-SDP  Document 1 Filed 02/27/2006 Page 11 of 26

buyer's continuing investment must be "adequate to demonstrate a commitent to pay
for the property.” Most of the payment due from these investors was reflected in non-
recourse promisory noles. Il the outside investors failed to pay the notes when due, Sun's
sole recourse was 1o look to the investors’ interests in SunChamp. Under FAS 66, this
was inadequate to demonstrate "a commitment to pay for the property” over and above
the initial cash payment.

4].  Sun's transactions with the outside investors also failed to satisfy the FAS
66 requircment that the seller must not have "a substantial continuing involvement with
the property." Sun retained a substantial continuing involvement with SunChamp and,
indirecily, with the ownership interests transferred to the individual investors. After these
"sales" transactions, Sun continued to have the same high level of involvement in
SunChamp as before. Additionally, Sun had the right to repurchase certain SunChamp
propertics under specified conditions. Tn contrast, the outside investors played no role in
the operations of SunChamp.

42, Sun's interest in SunChamp should have been reported as substantially
greater than 50% throughout the entire period from January 1, 2000 through December
31, 2002. Nevertheless, Jorissen knowingly or recklessly disrcgarded GAAP
requirements by directing that Sun reduce its stated ownership interest in SunChamp
below 20% and on that basis exclude SunChamp's losses from Sun's financial statements.

Misrepresentations As To Dates Of "Sales" To Investors

43, At Jorissen's direclion, Sun also prematurely recognized the purported
salcs to Schostak, Friedman, and Horowity, treating these transactions as consummated

well before they closed. Undcr FAS 66, a sale 1s not consummated until (i) the parties

11
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are bound by the terms of a contract, (ii) all consideration has been exchanged, (i11) any
permanent financing for which the seller is responsible has been arranged, and (1v) all
conditions precedent to ¢losing have been performed. These four conditions are usually
met at the time of the closing, or after the closing. FAS 66 at" 6.

44, There was no letter of intent as to the Schostak transaction until October 6,
2000, and the transaction did not close until October 26, 2000, Nevertheless, at Jorissen's
direction, Sun recorded this transaction as consummated on July 1, 2000, and on this
basis directed that Sun switch to the cost method of accounting as of that date. By July 1
there had been no binding contract, no exchange of consideration, and no arrangement of
financing. Morcover, the Sun subsidiary in which Schostak was purchasing ownership
(Sun/Forest Holdings) did not exist as of July 1, 2000,

45, When closing Sun's books for the first quarter of 2001, Jorissen spoke
with Shiffman about the benefils to Sun if Sun's interest in SunChamp was below 20%.
Shiffman then falsely stated to Jorissen (hat agrcements had already been finalized to
transfer portions of Sun's intercst in SunChamp to Friedman and Horowitz. Based on
Shiffian's statement, Jorissen directed that the "sates” to Fricdman and Horowitz be
accountcd for as if they had been consummated on January 1, 2001,

46. By January 1, 2001, neither Friedman nor Horowitz had agreed to
purchase an interest in SunChamp. The Friedman and Horowitz. transactions were not
closed until July 3, 2001. Shiffinan caused the falsification of Sun's books and records by
falsely stating to Jorissen in early 2001 that agrcements with Friedman and Horowitz had

already been finalized.
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. First Three Quarters Of 2002: Improper Equity Method Accounting

47.  During the first three quarters of 2002, Sun adopted the equity mcthod to
reporl on SunChamp losses. As a result, Sun did report certain SunChamp losses during
these quarters. However, during this period Jorissen continued to knowingly or
recklessly disregard GAAP requirements with regard to recognition of SunChamp’s
losses. At Jorissen's direction, Sun continued to calculate its share of the SunChamp
losscs as if its ownership interest in SunChamp had been reduced by the purported sold to
T.J. Holdings, Schostak, Fricdman, and Horowitz in 2000 and 2001, This resulted in Sun
reporting a smaller portion of the SunChamp losses than required by GAAP.

48.  On December 3, 2002, Sun purchased Champion’s ownership interest in
SunChamp. Sun consolidated SunChamp on its balance sheet as of that date but, contrary
lo GAAP rcquircments, did not consolidate SunChamp on its income statement until
January 1, 2003,

D. Misstatements In SEC Filings

49.  Asaresult of Sun's failure, at Jorissen's dircction, to properly account for
its share of SunChamp's losses, Sun matcrialty overstated its income in its quarterly
reports (Form 10-Q) and annual reports (Form 10-K) filed with the SEC [or cach
reporting period from January 1, 2000 through September 30, 2002, and in the annual
report for 2002, filed in early 2003.

50.  The amount of Sun's overstatement of income for each reporting period
is listed below, as identificd by the Commission based on Sun's income before

consideration of minerity inlerests. (For the third quarter of 2000 through the third

13
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quarter of 2002, thesc figures reflect adjustments relating to interest receivable from

outside investors.)

Income Overstatement
Period Overstatement Percentagc

Q1 2000 $441,000 4.42%
Q2 2000 573,000 5.83%
Q3 2000 1,168,000 8.55%
Q4 2000 1.496.000 16.33%
FYE 2000 3,678,000 8.63%
Q1 2001 1,020,000 7.42%
Q2 2001 1,163,000 11.10%
Q3 2001 1,067,000 10.59%:
04 2001 1,402,000 16.96%
FYE 2001 4,652,000 10.93%
Q1 2002 734,000 7.01%
Q2 2002 854,000 9.36%
Q3 2002 1,155,000 15.51%
04 2002 -—-- e
FYE 2002 2,708,000 13.09%

51.  During the period from January 2000 through the end of 2002, Sun also
filed with the SEC numerous regislratinn‘ statcments, prospectuses and othcr non-periodic
reports, many of which incorporated Sun's quarterly (10-Q) and annual (10-K) reports
containing false financial stalements. For example, on October 23, 2001, Sun filed an
amendment to 2 Form §-3 securities offering wherein Sun offered debt securities,
preferred stock, common stock, and warrants. That filing incorporated Sun's 10-K for
2000 and Sun's 10-Qs for the first and second quarter of 2001 (and all future 10-Ks and
10-Qs until the securities were sold). On March 5, 2002, Sun filed another amendment

relating to the securities identified in the October 2001 filing, incorporating its 10-K for

14
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2000 and 10-Qs for the first three quarters of 2001, This offering remained in place

through 2002,

COOKIE JAR RESERVES AND EARNINGS MANAGEMENT

52. Al Jorissen's direction, Sun improperly maintained general or "cookie jar"
reserves and used these reserves to "smooth” carnings. Under GAAP, a reserve can be
cstablished only in response to an identificd loss contingency and only if exposure to the
liability is probable and the loss can be reasonably cstimated. See FASB Concepts
Statement No. 6; Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 ("FAS 5"). The
creation of general rescrves is expressly prohubited under GAAP. See FAS 5 at 14,

53.  Jorissen knowingly or recklessly violatcd GAAP, falsified Sun's
accounting records, and circumvented Sun's internal controls by establishing and using a
general reserve. In the first quarter of 2001, Jorissen used an existing account (Account
2020, "Accrucd Expenses") to establish a reserve [or a $250,000 general contingency
associated with Sun's sale of property in Florida. This reserve was designatcd as "reserve
for cost.” Becausc Sun’s exposure to a loss contingency associated with the Flonda sale
was not probable and was not reasonably estimable, this $250,000 rescrve violated FAS 5
and constituted a misstatement of net income on Sun's financial statements.

54.  Further, Jorissen and Petrella knowingly or recklessly violated GAAP,
falsified Sun's accounting rccords, and circumvented Sun's internal controls by releasing
portions of this general reserve for rcasons unrelated to the contingency for which the
reserve was created. Under GAAP, a reserve can be released only when the related
liability has been extinguished. Statcment of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140

("FAS 140"y at § 16. Just as there was no valid obligation when Jorissen established the
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$250,000 genera) reserve, there was no basis for later recording a termination of portions
of this reserve.

55. On July 31, 2001, at Jorisscn's direction, the general reserve 1n Account
2020 was reduced by $81,365 to account for what Sun described as the "Schostak interest
income adjustment." This entry was unrelated to any purpose for which the reserve was
creatcd. The remaining balance of the general reserve was approximately $169,000.

56.  On August 23, 2001, at Jorisscn's direction, Sun again improperly released
a portion of the general rcserve in Account 2020. On that date Petrella askcd Jorissen via
email how to treat a $50,000 invoice arising from seitlement of a lawsuit unrelated to the
contingency for which the reserve was created. Petrella's e-mail noted that one oplion
was to "reduce the $250,000 cookie jar you created in the first qtr FL property sales."
Petrella also noted that a second option involved "more PWC exposure . . . but the staft
auditor would have to select this addition in a random samplc to understand the details.”
Petrella indicated that she was "[n]ot surc what you have in mind for the cookie jar which
is now reduced to $169,000 . .. ." and asked Jorissen how the $50,000 should be treated.
Minutes later Jorissen responded that she should "usc cookie jar." Petrella then reduced
the general reserve in Account 2020 by $50,000. This reduction in the general reserve
was a knowing or reckless falsification of Sun's financial books and records, and a
circumvention of Sun's internal controls, by Jorissen and Petrella.

37, Jorissen and Petrella also improperly used the general reserve to record
entries that matched expenses to seasonal revenue. Sun incurred Property Operating and
Maintenance ("POM") expenses throughout the year at certain recreational vehicle

communitics, while revenue from these communities was seasonal. To smooth earnings,

s}
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Sun recorded in one quarter the POM expenses incurred throughout the year. Sun netted
the annual expenses against the seasonal revenue, a clear violalion of GAAP. For the
first quarter of 2000, Sun recorded $365,000 in POM cxpenses in Account 2020 and
released that amount in the second quarter of 2000. For the first quarter of 2001, Sun
recorded $250,000 in POM expenscs in Account 2020 and relcased that amount in the
second quarter of 2001. For the first quarter of 2002, Sun recorded $300,000 in POM
expenses in Account 2020 and released that amount for the second quarter of 2002. By
directing and implementing Sun’s use of a general reserve to smooth eamings in violation
of GAAP, Jorissen and Petrella knowingly or recklessly falsified Sun’s financial books
and records and circumvented Sun's intermal controls.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securitics Act
(Jorissen)

58.  The Commission ncorporales paragraph 1 through 57 with the same force
and effect as if set out here.

59.  Pursuant to Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Secunties Act [15 U.S.C §
77q(a)(2) and (3)], it is unlawful for any person, in conncetion with the offer or salc of
securities and using the means or instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce or the mails, to (i) obtain money or property by mcans of an untrue
statement of a material facl or an omission of a material fact necessary to make a
statement not misleading, or (ii) engage in a transaction, practicc, or course of business
which opcrates or would operate as a fraud or deceit npon a purchaser of securities.

60.  Inthe manner described in paragraphs 1 through 57, defendant Jorissen, in

connection with the offer or sale of sceurities issued by Sun and using the means or

17
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instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails (i) obtained money or property by
means of unirue statements of material fact regarding Sun's financial performance and
condition, and (b) engaged in transactions and practices which operated as a fraud on
purchasers of Sun's secunhes.

61. By reason of the foregoing, defendant Jorisscn violated, and unless
restrained will ¢continue to violate, Section 17(a)(2) and (3).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Aiding and Abetting Sun's Violations of Reporting Requirements
{Jorissen)

62.  The Commussion incorporates paragraphs 1 through 57 with the same

force and effect as if set out here.

63. Scction 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20
13a-1 and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1 and 240.13a-13]
require every issuer of a registered security lo file with the Commission reports that

accurately reflect the issucr's financial performance.

64.  Sun violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1
and 13a-13 by filing quartcrly reports (Form 10-Q) for each quarter from January 1,
2000, throngh September 30, 2002, and annual reports (Form 10-K) for the years 2000,
2001, and 2002 that did not accurately reflect Sun's financial performance. As described
n paragraphs 1 through 57 above, thesc reports incorporated Sun financial statements

that were not in compliance with GAAP and contained material misstatcments.

65.  Pursuant to Section 20(c) of the Exchange Act [15 U.5.C. § 78t()]
whoever "knowingly provides substantial assistance" io another person in connection

with a violation of the Exchange Act, or any regnlation thercunder, is deemed to be "In
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violation of such provision to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is

provided."

66.  In the manner described in paragraphs 1 through 57, Jorissen knowingly
provided substantial assistance to Sun in conncetion with Sun's violations of Scction
13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13. Jorissen aided and
abetted Sun's reporting viotations within the scope of Section 20(e) and thus violated

Scction 13(a) and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 to the same extent as Sun.

67.  Unless restrained, Jorisscn will continue to aid and abet violations of these

reporting provisions.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Aiding and Abetting Sun's Violations of
Sections 13(b}(2)(A) and (B) of the Exchange Act
(Jorissen)

68.  The Commssion incorporates paragraphs 1 through 57 with the same

force and effect as if set out here.

69, Pursuant to Section 13(b)(2)(A) and (B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78m(b)(2)], every issuer of a registered secunty must (1) maintain books and records
accurately and fairly reflecting its transactions and the disposition of its assets, and (ii)
establish a system of internal accounting controls that provides reasonable assurances that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP.

70.  As described in paragraphs 1 through 57 above, Sun violated Section
13(b)(2)(A) and (B) of the Exchange Act throughout the period from January 1, 2000, to

September 30, 2002, and in conncetion with its annual reports for the years 2000, 2001,

and 2002, by failing to (1) maintain books and records accurately and fairly reflecting its
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transactions and the dispositions of its asscts, and (ii) establish a system of internal
accounting controls that provides reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statcments in conformmty with (GAAP.

71.  Pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act whoever "knowingly
provides substantial assistance™ to another person in connection with a violation of the
Exchange Act, or any regulation thereunder, is deemed to be "in violation of such

provision to the same extent as the person to whom such assistance is provided."

72.  In the manner described in paragraphs 1 through 57, Jorissen knowingly
provided substantial assistance to Sun in connection with Sun's ﬁolations of Section
13(b)(2)(A) and (B) of the Exchange Act. Jorissen aided and abetted Sun's record-
keeping and internal control violations within the scope of Section 20(e) and thus

violated Section 13(b}(2)(A) and (B) to the same extent as Surn.

73. Unless restrained, Jorissen will continue to aid and abet violations of these

record-keeping and internal control provisions.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act
{Jorissen and Petrella)

74. The Commission incorporates paragraphs 1 through 57 with the same

force and effect as if set out here.

75.  Pursuant to Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, no person may
knowingly circamvent or fail to implement a system of internal accounting controls or
knowingly falsify any book, record, or account maintained pursuant to Section 13(b)(2)

of the Exchange Act.
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76. In the manner described in paragraphs 52 through 57, defendants Jorissen
and Petrella knowingly circumvented Sun's internal accounting controls and knowingly
falsified books, records, and accounts maintained by Sun pursuant to Section 13(b)(2) of

the Exchange Act.

77. By rcason of the foregoing, defendants Jorissen and Petrella violated, and

unless restrained will continue to violate, Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act.
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Rule 13h2-1 Under the Exchange Act
(Jorisscn, Shiffman, and Petrella)

78.  The Commission incorporates paragraphs 1 through 57 with the same

force and effect as if set out here.

79.  Rule 13b2-1 issued under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1]
provides that no person shall dircetly or indirectly falsify any book, record, or account

subject to Section 13(b)(2}(A) of the Exchange Act.

80.  TIn the manner described in paragraphs 43 through 46, defendants Jorissen
and Shiffman, falsified or caused the falsification of books, records, and accounts

matntained by Sun and subject to Scetion 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act.

81.  Inthe manner described in paragraphs 52 through 57, defendants Jonssen
and Petrella, falsified or caused the falsification of books, records and accounts

maintained by Sun and subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act.

82. By reason of the forcgoing, defendants Jorissen, Shiffman, and Petrella

violated, and unless restrained will continue to violate, Rule 13b2-1 of the Exchange Act.
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SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Rule 13b2-2 of the Exchange Act
(Jorissen)

83.  The Commission incorporates paragraphs | through 57 with the same

force and effect as if sct out here,

84.  Rule 13b2-2 of the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2] provides,
inter alia, that no director or officer of an issuer may, dircctly or indirectly, make or cause
to be made a matenially falsc or misleading statement to an accountant in conncction with
the preparation or filing of any document or report required to be filed with the

Cormmission.

85.  Tn the manner described in paragraphs 25 through 32, defendant Jorissen
violated Rule 13b2-2 by making or causing to be made a matcrially false or mislcading
statcment to Sun's auditor, Gregory Nelson, in connection with the preparation of Sun's
financial statements and Sun's quarterly reports (Form 10-Q) for the first and second
quarter of 2001. Jorissen indicated to Nelson, directly or indirectly, that Sun needed to
adopt a 90-day Jag in reporting its share of SunChanip's losscs because SunChamp was
not providing the necessary information in time to allow Sun to rcflect that information in

Sun's quarterly filings. This statement was false or misleading.

R6. Unless restrained, Jorissen will continuc to violate Rule 13h2-2.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHERELFORE, the Commission requests that the Court enter judgment:

(a) permanently cnjoining Jorissen from violating Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the
Securilies Act, Scction 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 of
the Exchange Act, and from aiding and abelting violations of Sections 13(a) and
13(b)(2)(A) and (B) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13
thereunder; requiring him to disgorge his ill-gotten gains with prejudgment mterest; and
requiring mm to pay a civil penalty;

(b) permanently enjoining Shiffman from violating Rule 13b2-1 of the Exchange
Act, and requiring him to pay a civil penalty; and

(c) permanently cnjoining Petrella from violating Section 13(b)(5) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 13b2-1 thercunder, and requiring her to pay a civil penalty; and

(d) providing such other relief as may be appropriate.

Dated: February e, 2006 __,“- Wt S'w-"""
H. Michael Semler
Of Counsel: Securities and Exchange Commission
Pcter Bresnan 100 F Street, N.E.
Cheryl Scarboro Washington, D.C. 20549
Bernard McDonough Tel: 202-551-4429
Securities and Exchange Fax: 202-772-9246
Commission
Attorney for Plaintiff

Local Counsel:

Ellen Christensen

Assistant United States Attorney
211 W. Fort Strect

Suite 201

Detroit, Michigan 48226-3211
Tel: 313-226-9112

Fax: 313-226-3800
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PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 83.11

1. Is this a case that has been previously dismissed? D Yes
. . NoO
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Case No.:
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2. Other than stated above, are there any pending or previously

discontinued or dismissed companion cases in this or any other D Yes
court, including state court? (Companion cases are matters in which No
it appears substantially similar evidence will be offered or the same
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transaction or accurrence.)

If yes, give the following information:

Court:

Case No.:

Judge:

Notes :
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